ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE RESOURCES STANDI NG COW TTEE
May 12, 2003
3:35 p.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Senat or Scott Ogan, Chair

Senat or Thomas Wagoner, Vice Chair
Senat or Fred Dyson

Senat or Ral ph Seeki ns

Senator Ben Stevens

Senat or Kim El ton

Senat or Ceor gi anna Lincoln

VEMBERS ABSENT

Al l nmenbers present
COW TTEE CALENDAR

APPO NTMENT OF MR, JOHN JENSEN to the ALASKA BOARD CF FI SHERI ES
CONFI RVATI ON° ADVANCED

HOUSE BI LL NO. 226
"An Act relating to the sale, offer for sale, representation,
and | abeling of food or other agricultural products as organic,
and to the state organic certification program and providing
for an effective date."

MOVED QUT OF COW TTEE

PREVI QUS ACTI ON
HB 226 - No previous action to record.
W TNESS REG STER

M. John E. Jensen

Pet er sburg, AK

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Answered questions regarding his Board
appoi nt nent

Ms. Barbara Bittney

Staff to Representative Stoltze

Al aska State Capitol

Juneau, AK 99801-1182

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HB 226 for the sponsor

SENATE RES COW TTEE -1- May 12, 2003



M. Mark Renpe
Pal mer, AK
POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports HB 226

M. River Bean

Presi dent, Al aska Organi c Association
No address provided

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports HB 226

M . Shane Herr
No address provi ded
POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Supports HB 226

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
TAPE 03-46, SIDE A

CONFI RVATI ON: - BOARD OF FI SHERI ES

CHAI R SCOIT OGAN called the Senate Resources Standing Conmittee
neeting to order at 3:35 p.m Al nenbers were present except
Senator Ben Stevens. Chair Ogan announced the commttee would
first take up the confirmation of John Jensen to the Board of
Fisheries. He asked M. Jensen to tell nenbers why he wants to
serve on the board.

MR. JOHN E. JENSEN told nenbers he is a third generation Al askan
from Petersburg. He has been interested in the work of the Board
of Fisheries and has hoped to serve on it at sone tine. He has
di verse experience in both conmmercial and sport fisheries. H's
goal is to create sustainable, viable fisheries based on sound
managenment practices for all Al askan user groups.

CHAI R OGAN asked M. Jensen his opinion of the recent ruling by
the federal subsistence board that allows subsistence fishernen
to catch 20 halibut per day.

MR. JENSEN said he likes the idea of being able to go out and
get a few halibut but thinks 20 per day is excessive.

CHAI R OGAN said the conmttee tal ked to another appointee of the
board about the fact that now that the subsistence fishery for
rainbow trout is allowed, there should be better comrunication
between the federal and state boards to nmake sure the resources
are not conprom sed. He said the federal board is not required
to manage on a sustained yield basis like the state board is. He
asked M. Jensen to coment.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 2- May 12, 2003



MR. JENSEN said he is disappointed to hear that the [federa
board] made that decision. He said the state board just revi ewed
a very conprehensive trout plan at an Anchorage neeti ng.

SENATOR WAGONER commented that M. Jensen's resune speaks for
itself and he believes M. Jensen will be a very good board
nenber .

SENATOR LI NCOLN said she received a coment from a resident of
the Interior who said no one on the board has any Yukon R ver
experience and residents are concerned that individual nenbers
on the board w thout that experience m ght not have know edge of
inland fisheries. She asked M. Jensen to respond.

MR. JENSEN said he does not have any inland fishing experience
and realizes there are problens associated with that fishery. He
said he believes that issue is scheduled to cone up for board
review this fall. Menbers are trying to review the details of
t hose problens right now

SENATOR LI NCOLN said she appreciates his honesty and hopes that
he carefully reviews the data and concerns expressed from
resi dents of the Yukon-Kuskokwi m area. She then asked M. Jensen
what he believes the board's role is in carrying out the state's
subsi stence priority and whether he supports a constitutional
anmendnent for a rural subsistence priority.

MR. JENSEN said, regarding the constitutional amendnent, he
woul d support putting the question before the voters. In regard
to the board's role, he said the board should allow subsistence
for anyone who needs it as long as the resource is viable.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked what criteria were used in making the
decision to reverse the Chitina dipnet fishery designation and
whet her he agreed with that deci sion.

MR. JENSEN said that decision was prinmarily based on criteria 8,
pattern of use, and the new information that was not avail able
in 2000.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked M. Jensen to describe sone of the new
informati on he used to nake his decision.

MR. JENSEN said two elenents were |long-term consistent patterns

of use and criteria 6, which pertains to passing know edge of
fishing and hunting practices from generation to generation. He

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 3- May 12, 2003



noted the survey showed that many people were either self-taught
or taught by friends.

SENATOR SEEKINS asked M. Jensen if he |ooked at the users and
determned they did not fit within his definition of what a true
subsi st ence user 1is.

MR. JENSEN replied, "No, not really. It was nore in the - wth
the definition of wuse, individual habit or customary usage and
privilege of wusing sonething. It wasn't the wusers. | didn't
think it was the users.™

SENATOR SEEKI NS conment ed that nost people eat fish.

MR. JENSEN said he does not believe many fishernen use the fish
in the customary and traditional way, as in "substantial,
economni c, cul tural, soci al , and |I'm sure they wuse the
nutritional elenents...."

SENATOR SEEKINS asked if he went to Chitina for the first tine
after hearing that it was a place to get fish to feed his
famly, and he used the customary and traditional nethod of
catching fish, although no one taught him how, whether he would
be considered different froma fourth generati on user.

MR. JENSEN said possibly, based on the definition of long-term
use.

SENATOR WAGONER said at one tinme the board held hearings
t hroughout Al aska. He fishes in Cook Inlet and has found the
board has basically refused to hold a neeting in Cook Inlet for
a nunber of years. He asked M. Jensen if he is aware of any
good reason to not hold a hearing in Cook Inlet when the board
is review ng Upper and Lower Cook Inlet issues.

MR. JENSEN sai d he cannot think of any good reasons.

CHAIR OGAN said a lot of his constituents feel the board has
been heavily slanted toward the comrercial fisheries. He pointed
out that Cook Inlet is a mxed stock intercept fishery. He
mai nt ai ned that when a | arge anount of fish return and the board
is managing for the Kenai River, the board puts a gauntlet up in
the Inlet and chokes off the fish. ADF&G has testified in the
past that when that type of a situation occurs, the Upper Cook
Infet suffers because the fisheries are not rmanaged for
escapenent in the Upper Inlet. He asked M. Jensen what
assurances he can give that upriver fishing opportunities in his

SENATE RES COW TTEE -4- May 12, 2003



area and the Yukon will be provided so that the fisheries are
managed on a sustained yield basis and Al askans can feed their
famlies.

MR. JENSEN said he will do his best to nake sure everyone gets
their share of the fish. He said he does not want to see anyone
get slighted.

CHAIR OGAN said there is a perception that commercial fishernen
were slighted by the |last board. He added that a |ot of people
living at the end of the fish runs believe that now the pendul um
has swung too far in the other direction.

MR. JENSEN said he was not aware of that and will do his best to
make the best-educated decisions for everyone.

SENATOR WAGONER said he is a drift fisherman in Cook Inlet and
has averaged less than 5 days fishing the full Inlet for the
| ast seven years. He said there is not a lot of pressure being
put on the stocks that go into the Upper Inlet by the Kenai
fleet.

CHAIR OGAN commented that is where the conflict lies. He noted
when he first came to the legislature, the Kenai Kking sal non
fishery in the Chesina River was closed to the detrinment of sone
of the fishernmen in Cook Inlet. The king and silver salnon
fisheries have been really good in the northern Inlet. There's a
grave concern in his district that the pendulum will sw ng back
and his district "will be on the short end of the stick." H's
district is filled with people with |odges and businesses that
depend upon those sport caught fish and their use needs to be
bal anced. He said, in his opinion, fish on a person's dinner
table takes priority over a fish caught for comercial use
regardless of whether it was caught wunder a subsistence,
personal wuse, or sport designation. He asked for reassurance
that a commercially weighted board will not conprom se his and
Senator Lincoln's districts.

MR. JENSEN said he will do his best to nmake just deci sions.

SENATOR ELTON commented that M. Jensen is the first nom nee who
has fished everywhere in Alaska with many gear types and for
many types of fish. He said it is unfortunate to view a non nee
from the conmmercial versus sport perspective. He said he | ooks
forward to working with M. Jensen and is glad that he wants to
serve on the board.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 5- May 12, 2003



CHAI R OGAN noted that Senator Ben Stevens joined the commttee.
He agreed M. Jensen probably has the broadest experience of the
nom nees and will serve the board well.

SENATOR LINCOLN said she is pleased to learn that M. Jensen is
a long-termresident and asked him why he wants to serve on the
board.

MR. JENSEN said he was born and raised in Aaska and is
interested in the health of the fishing stocks in the state,
both sport and conmercial. He said he wants to do what he can to
hel p the fisheries.

SENATOR DYSON noved to forward M. Jensen's nane to the full
Senate for a vote. There being no objection, the notion carried.

CHAI R OGAN announced an at-ease.

HB 226- ORGANI C FOCD

M5. BARBARA BITTNEY, staff to Representative Bill Stoltze,
sponsor, explained that HB 226 sinply adopts the federa

definition of "organic." Since the federal governnent changed
the definition and standards for "organic,"” produce can no
|l onger be certified as organic wthin the State of Al aska
without this legislation. Organic producers nmust go to O egon

Washi ngton, and other states for certification. This |egislation
will <create a state «certification program wthin Al aska

I nspectors will fly to Alaska but Al askans who are famliar with
| ocal agriculture can certify that produce is organic. Last
year, Representative Harris introduced this same |egislation [HB
432] but it was not enacted before the end of the session.

IVS. BITTNEY told nenbers when the federal definition of
"organi c" was enacted the certification cost was increased. That
increase from $500 to between $1500 and $3000 was significant
for smaller producers. Many organic farners sell to farners
markets; it is not a high volune industry. Anyone who sells
$5000 or nore of organic produce nust be certified. She
clarified that the House Finance Conmttee zeroed out the fiscal
note and plans to fund the programw th programreceipts.

SENATOR ELTON said the original fiscal note had a cost of

$37,000 per year. He asked the nunmber of organic farners in
Al aska who coul d cover that cost.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 6- May 12, 2003



M5. BITTNEY could not give a nunber but said there are three
farmers markets in Anchorage, one in Eagle River, one in
Fai rbanks, one in Honer, one in Soldotna, and Delta and
Tal keetna plan to start farnmers markets. In addition, there are
sonme very large agricultural farns in her area. She said the
nunber is fairly significant.

SENATOR ELTON asked if this will be a cheaper alternative than
flying an inspector to Al aska.

V. BITTNEY said her hope is ‘that by having a state
certification program Alaska wll eventually have in-state
i nspection, which will significantly reduce the cost.

CHAI R OGAN st at ed:

I'"d just like to say, you know, ny district - in fact
in my neighborhood we have one of the best organic
farmers - Larry DeVilbiss. | literally - 1 drank nore
carrot juice after recovering from ny heart attack
| ast year and | can tell you what - that stuff is
good. | know it sounds disgusting but the Mt Valley
carrots are the sweetest carrots in the world. | nean
they're really, really good and you throw a little
apple in there and it's full of calcium and really
good stuff. | attribute a lot of ny good health today
due to a vigorous organic carrot program In fact |'m
going back on it when | get honme. | mss them That's
weird for me - you're talking a neat and potatoes guy
- anyway. ..

SENATOR SEEKINS said he is very nuch in support of this bill
because he produces organic fertilizer fromhis herd of horses.

SENATOR LI NCOLN noted the federal regulations now recognize wld
salnon as organic and asked Ms. Bittney if that interacts wth
HB 226.

M5. BITTNEY said HB 226 strictly applies to agricultura
products. Meats are dealt with in a different section of statute
but that is sonething that could be expl ored.

SENATOR LINCOLN said she thought M. Bittney said HB 226
pertains to nore than agricul tural products.

MS. BITTNEY said she was referring to herbs and essential oils
fromlavender, for exanple.

SENATE RES COW TTEE -7- May 12, 2003



CHAI R OGAN recogni zed the presence of Representative Stoltze. He
then noted that Ms. Bittney said a farmer nust have
certification to sell over a certain anount of produce but no
amount is included in the bill.

MS. BITTNEY said the amount is listed in the federal guidelines,
whi ch require anyone selling under $5,000 per year in organic
products to neet the standard; anyone selling $5,000 or nore
must have certification. If a state official went on-site and
found a farmer did not have certification, that farner could be
fined. She clarified the |imt set on the fines is up to
$10, 000. The Departnent of Natural Resources (DNR) woul d set the
actual fine anmounts in regul ation.

SENATOR ELTON asked if DNR would be required to do enforcenent
in Seattle if produce was shipped from Al aska to Seattle.

M5. BITTNEY said when a farmis certified, an inspector reviews
the entire operation. R ght now, inspectors often |ook at the
end product but it is inpossible to determine if it neets the
federal guidelines. According to the US. Code, an organic

farmer wll have to keep three-years’ worth of docunentation on
how the soil was anended and the soil wuld be subject to
testing. The Code contains a long list of sprays and other

products that can and cannot be used.

SENATOR ELTON asked if anything in HB 226 will require DNR to
enforce the | abeling requirenents outside of Al aska.

M5. BITTNEY said she would have to get an answer to that
questi on.

SENATOR DYSON said he is | eery about creating nore governnent.
CHAI R OGAN t ook public testinony.

MR. MARK REMPEL, an organic farner from Pal ner, stated support
for HB 226. He said he was disappointed that the sane bill did
not pass |ast year because he was forced to go outside of Al aska
to get his certification

MR. RIVER BEAN, President of the Alaska Organic Association,
told mnmenbers that wup wuntil the fall of Jlast year, his
organi zation could certify organic growers. However, that can no
| onger be done wunder the new federal rule. He asked the
| egi slature to support HB 226 because it will allow the organic

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 8- May 12, 2003



farmers in Alaska to get their produce certified by the State of
Al aska rather than by another state. Also of concern is that
many farners in the state are unaware of the serious
consequences of wusing the word "organic" wth their produce.
Farmers who are mslabeling their produce could be fined up to
$10,000 if federal enforcement were to occur. That kind of a
fine would break nost of those farns. He believes those farns
are selling nore than $5,000 worth of produce and woul d have to
go out-of-state for certification. He said last year he paid
$350 to have his farm certified as organic; this year the cost
to get certified by Washington State would be nore than $2, 000,
which is unaffordable. He said his association would |ike to see
an agricultural inspector in Alaska, which could be an outcone
of HB 226.

SENATOR WAGONER asked how nmany commercial organic farmers work
in Al aska.

MR. BEAN said that four were certified last year. He believes
there are about 40 snaller scale organic farners.

MR. SHANE HERR, a third generation carrot farmer, said he sees
HB 226 as a necessary evil for econom c devel opnent.

CHAIR OGAN said that nmany people have the perception that
farmng is not a viable industry in Alaska but that is not true
in his district.

TAPE 03-46, SIDE B

CHAIR OGAN said that farners, |ike fishernen, are free market
risk takers, which he has a |ot of respect for. He then noved HB
226 from conmittee with its zero fiscal note from the House
Fi nance Commi ttee.

SENATOR SEEKI NS obj ect ed.

SENATOR DYSON said he is very concerned that the House has
chosen to not fine parents whose children burn down schools and
slash tires yet this House bill fines the poor farners $10, 000.

CHAI R OGAN cal | ed Senat or Dyson's conments out of order.

SENATOR DYSON st ated objection to the notion.

SENATE RES COW TTEE - 9- May 12, 2003



SENATOR LINCOLN stated objection to the notion because the
committee had not heard testinmony from farnmers in the Delta
ar ea.

A roll call vote was taken. The notion to pass HB 226 from
committee failed with Senators Stevens, Dyson, Seekins, Elton
and Lincoln opposed, and Chair Ogan in favor, who then noved to
reconsi der the vote. Al nenbers then voted in favor, therefore
the notion to nove HB 226 from comm ttee passed unani nously.

SENATOR SEEKI NS asked that the record show that Representative
Stoltze had turned three shades of red.

CHAI R OGAN adj ourned the neeting at 4:28 p. m

SENATE RES COW TTEE -10- May 12, 2003



